
 

1 
 

 

 

 

ARB HOLDINGS LIMITED 

GROUP 

 

CONSOLIDATED 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2020 

 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Directors responsibility and approval 2  Statement of cash flows 16 

Audit committee report 4  Notes to the financial statements 17 

Directors’ report 5  Related party disclosure 29 

Report of the independent auditor 9  Financial risk management 30 

Statement of comprehensive 
income  

13  Segment reports 36 

 
Statement of financial position 14  Accounting policies 39 

  

 



 

2 
 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL 
The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and 
are responsible for the content and integrity of the consolidated financial statements included in this report. It 
is their responsibility to ensure that these consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as to form and content and present fairly the consolidated statement of financial 
position, results of operations and business of the group, and explain the transactions and financial position of 
the business of the group at the end of the financial year. The consolidated financial statements are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied throughout the group and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To 
enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 

The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management and the 
internal auditors that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. However, any system of internal 
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
loss. The going-concern basis has been adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Based on 
forecasts and available cash resources, the directors have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going 
concern in the foreseeable future. The consolidated financial statements support the viability of the group. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent auditing firm, PKF Durban, who have 
been given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of 
shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations 
made to the independent auditor during the audit were valid and appropriate. The independent auditor’s 
unqualified audit report is presented on page 9. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of the group’s chief financial 
officer, GM Scrutton CA (SA). 

The consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 9 to 45 were approved by the board on 20 August 
2020 and were signed on their behalf by: 

 
 
 
 
RB Patmore WR Neasham 
Non-Executive Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer 
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CEO AND CFO RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT  
 

The directors, whose names appear below, hereby confirm that – 

i. The annual financial statements set out on pages 9 to 45, fairly present in all material respects the 

financial position, financial performance and cash flow of the issuer in terms of IFRS; 

ii. No facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make these annual financial 

statements false or misleading; 

iii. Internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that the material information relating to 

the issuer and its subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the annual financial 

statements for the issuer; and 

iv. The internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied on in compiling the 
annual financial statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance 
model pursuant to principle 15 of the King Code. 

Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design 
and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves directors and have 
taken the necessary remedial action.  

 

 

 

WR Neasham GM Scrutton 
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer 
20 August 2020 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the requirements as stated in section 88(2) of the 
Companies Act of South Africa, have been met and that all returns, as required of a public company in terms of 
the aforementioned Act, have been submitted to the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission and that 
such returns are true, correct and up to date. 

 
 
 
 
M Louw 
Company Secretary 
10 Mack Road, Prospecton, Durban 20 August 2020 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE STATUTORY REPORT 
 

The audit committee is pleased to submit its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 in terms of section 

94(7)(f) of the Companies Act. 

The audit committee has discharged its responsibilities in terms of its formal audit committee charter which 

include the duties outlined in section 94(7) of the Companies Act. The committee is supported in this process by 

the risk committee which monitors risk management and compliance activities. 

The committee considered and satisfied itself that the independent auditors, PKF Durban, and the nominated 

audit partner, Mr RC Boulle, are independent of the group. 

At its various meetings held during the year, the audit committee is presented with information by the 

independent auditors, internal auditors and management, and based on this information the committee has 

come to the conclusion that nothing has come to its attention that would suggest that the group’s accounting 

practices and system of internal financial controls are not adequate or effective and do not form a basis for the 

presentation of reliable financial statements. The audit committee has reviewed the consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 with the assurance providers and management and are satisfied 

that they comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act and IFRS. This committee 

recommended that these consolidated financial statements should be approved by the board and distributed 

to the shareholders. 

On behalf of the audit committee 

 

 

Mr JS Dixon 

Audit Committee Chairman, 20 August 2020 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS 
 ARB Holdings Ltd is a holding and investment company which owns investments in closely related trading 

and distribution businesses, as well as fixed property for letting. The various operations of the group are 
summarised below. ARB’s operations comprise 3 main business segments, namely: 

 

• Electrical Division 

• Lighting Division 

• Corporate Division 
  
 Electrical Division 
 ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd, together with its subsidiaries, is a majority owned subsidiary (74%), and 

is the group’s largest operating division. It is a black-empowered electrical wholesaler operating in southern 
and South Africa offering a wide range of locally manufactured and imported products including power and 
instrumentation cabling; overhead line hardware and conductors; insulators; transformers and general 
electrical contracting materials. Clients range across large and heavy industry, parastatals, major construction 
groups, mining houses and electrical contractors. The subsidiary continues to expand its footprint by 
marketing through its Connect stores.  

 
 CraigCor Distribution Co (Pty) Ltd, a majority owned subsidiary (75%) of ARB Electrical Wholesalers, is the 

exclusive Rockwell automation distribution agent in Gauteng, Western Cape, Namibia and Zambia and 
Honeywell in South Africa, Namibia and Zambia.  

 
 ARB Global (Pty) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary, sells a range of locally manufactured and imported 

electrical products across South Africa’s borders.  
   
 CED – Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Ltd (CED), a wholly owned subsidiary, is the sole distributor of 

CHINT low voltage products and the Horizon plugs and socket range in South Africa. 
 
 Lighting Division 
 Eurolux (Pty) Ltd, a majority owned subsidiary (60%), together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, the 

Radiant Group (Pty) Ltd and Cathay (Pty) Ltd, imports and distributes electrical light fittings, lamps and 
related electrical accessories mainly to retail and wholesale stores and principally in South Africa. 

 
 Corporate Division 
 Xact ERP Solutions (Pty) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary, services the majority of the electrical division’s IT 

requirements and sells computer hardware and software support.  
 
 ARB Holdings Ltd also owns a property portfolio and rents these properties to certain of the group’s 

electrical branch operations.  
 
2. MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY 

The group’s compliance with the King Committee recommendations (and the JSE listing requirement 

8.62(d)) on corporate governance requirements of a unitary board by an independent. The board approved 

strategy and direction are executed by the executive directors and the subsidiary boards. ARB adopts a 

hands-on approach to managing its subsidiaries.  Each subsidiary is self-contained and has its own chief 

executive officer or managing director and a full complement of financial and administration infrastructure.  

The ARB Group CEO is, however, actively involved in the executive committees of all operations, with 

executive directors of the group actively controlling and participating on the boards of subsidiaries.  The 

staffing levels, working capital and cash flow management is always a major focus of the group and is 

managed at the ARB Group CEO level with formal monthly reviews. 
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3. FINANCIAL RESULTS 
During the period under review, the world experienced the COVID-19 pandemic. This resulted in the South 

African national government locked down the economy, at varying levels, since 27th March 2020. During 

the month of April, the operations of the group were completely closed with meniscal sales of emergency 

requisites. During May certain industries were permitted to open and so the group opened for limited time 

during the day on a skeleton staff but, as most customers were still on lockdown, sales were 50% off budget 

(42% off prior year). In June 2020 the economy was opened further, but customers procurement was again 

affected resulting in a turnover of only 25%% of budget (20% off prior year). The full impact of the pandemic 

on our operations will only be known over time. 

  The group recognised a R33.0m (2019 R21.2m) fair value gain through profit and loss on the put option 

granted to the NCI’s of CraigCor and Eurolux. This primarily arose because the estimated strike price of the 

put option decreased in the year due to the combined effect of the decrease in (expected) earnings in the 

underlying business, the purchase of one of the options at a discount and decrease in the ARB share price. 

It is probable that this fair value adjustment will reverse in the near future resulting to material charges to 

profit and loss.  

4. SHARE CAPITAL 
 Authorised share capital 
 The authorised share capital amounts to R100 000, being 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.01 cents each. 

There were no changes to the authorised share capital during the year under review. 
  
 Issued share capital 
 The issued share capital amounts to R23 500, being 235 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.01 cents each. There 

were no changes to the issued share capital during the year under review.   The unissued ordinary shares 
are not subject of a general authority granted to the directors in terms of the Companies Act (2008) and 
the JSE Listings Requirements. In terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”) this 
general authority remains valid only until the next AGM, which is to be held on 4 November 2020. Members 
will be requested at the meeting to consider an ordinary resolution placing the said ordinary shares under 
the control of the directors until the 2021 AGM. 

5. DIVIDEND 
 The board has approved as a minimum, a 2.5 times dividend cover ratio, subject to any future funding 

requirements (such as Capex) and an informal policy to return excess cash to shareholders. A final dividend 
was declared for the 2019 year and paid to shareholders during the year under review of R58.7m (25.0 
cents per share, comprising an ordinary dividend of 25.0 cents per share) [2019: R82.25m (25.0 cents 
ordinary dividend and 10.0 cents special dividend per share)]. 

  
 Given the economic uncertainties which continue to prevail, the board is of the view that cash preservation 

in the short term is essential, and consequently has taken the decision not to declare a dividend at this 
time.   

6. DIRECTORS 
 The directors of the company during the year under review and to the date of this report are as follows:  
   
 RB Patmore Independent non-executive chairman 
 WR Neasham Managing director and group chief executive officer  
 JS Dixon Independent non-executive director  
 ST Downes Independent non-executive director 
 GM Scrutton Financial director and group chief financial officer  
  
 Directors’ remuneration is reported in note 21 (related parties) 
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7.  DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS 
 No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into during the year. All transactions 

with related parties are detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
8. DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING IN THE ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 

  Shares (000’s) 

  Direct beneficially Indirect beneficially Percentage held 

 2020    
     
 Simon Downes #* - 600 0.26% 
 James Dixon #* 20 - 0.01% 
 William Neasham (CEO) 4 862 75 2.10% 
 Blayne Burke ** 77 - 0.03% 
 Jason Burke ** 71 - 0.03% 

  5 030 675 2.43% 

 2019    
     
 Simon Downes #* - 600 0.26% 
 James Dixon #* 20 - 0.01% 
 William Neasham (CEO) 4 862 75 2.10% 
 Blayne Burke ** 77 - 0.03% 
 Jason Burke ** 68 - 0.03% 

  5 027 675 2.43% 
*   Non-executive; #   Independent; **   Director of subsidiary, ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd; 
 

None of these shares have been encumbered or pledged as security. There have been no changes in the 
directors’ shareholdings between the year end and the date of this report. 

 
9. BORROWINGS 

 The board have set the acceptable gearing level at interest bearing debt of 43% of equity (effectively a 30% 
gearing ratio). The directors have established credit facilities with various financial institutions for use by 
the company and its subsidiary companies. The directors did not exceed any authorised levels of borrowings 
during the year under review. 

 
10. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS 

 The only special resolutions passed during the period were those passed at the AGM, and included in the 
2019 integrated report, giving directors general authority to repurchase up to 10% of the shares in the 
company; approving the non-executive directors’ remuneration and financial assistance of subsidiaries (in 
terms of s44 and s45 of the Companies Act). No shares were repurchased during the year. These resolutions 
will again be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. 

 
11. ACQUISITIONS 

  There were no acquisitions during the year. 
 

12. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 
 The group’s ultimate holding company is Burke Consolidated Holdings (Pty) Ltd. 
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13.  COMMITMENTS AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our customer base, as well as the effectiveness of 

government and central bank responses, remain unclear at this time. While it is expected that trading 

operations and results will continue to be negatively impacted in the future, it is not possible to reliably 

estimate the duration and severity of these consequences, as well as the impact on the financial position 

and results of the group for future periods. 

The transfer of the Radiant properties previously announced, has been significantly delayed by the staff 

rotation and operations at both the municipalities and the Deeds office. Three of the five properties have 

been transferred since the year end and we anticipate the remaining two properties to finally be 

transferred within the next two months. The R88.0m cost for these properties has been financed using 

property mortgage finance from Nedbank.  

The directors are not aware of any other material event or circumstance arising since the end of the 

reporting period and up until the date of this report, not otherwise disclosed in these consolidated 

financial statements which significantly affects the financial position, results or cash flows of the group. 

 

20 August 2020 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 
To the Shareholders of ARB Holdings Limited 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OPINION  
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ARB Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the group) 
set out on pages 13 to 45 , which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, 
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of ARB Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020, and its consolidated financial 
performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) 
and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with 
other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN THE AUDIT 

Valuation of goodwill and indefinite useful life trademarks 

As disclosed in note 10, the consolidated financial 
statements include goodwill and indefinite useful 
life trademarks which have been significantly 
impaired in the current year. 
 
As required by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the 
directors conduct annual impairment tests to 
assess recoverability of the carrying value of 
goodwill and indefinite useful life trademarks. This 
is performed using discounted cash flow models 
which involve a number of key assumptions 
including: 

• The growth rate and terminal growth rate, 
which is considered to be highly subjective 
since it is based on management’s 
experience and expectations rather than 
observable market data. 

Our audit procedures included: 

• We assessed whether the approach adopted 
by management in the discounted cash flow 
model was in line with market practice and the 
applicable requirements of IAS 36 Impairment 
of Assets; 

• We have tested the mathematical accuracy of 
the discounted cash flow model through re-
performing the calculations; 

• We analysed the future projected cash flows 
used in the model to determine whether the 
assumptions used were reasonable and 
supportable; 

• We assessed the appropriateness of the 
growth and terminal growth rates and tested 
the weighted average cost of capital 
calculation and the variables used therein; and 
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• The discount rate which is based on a 
weighted average cost of capital 
calculation which is complex. 

 
The current economic climate and the COVID-19 
induced uncertainty surrounding the future 
economic conditions increased the complexity of 
forecasting.  
 
The impairment tests of these assets are 
considered to be a key audit matter due to the 
value of the assets and the extent of judgement 
and estimation required. 

• We subjected the key assumptions to 
sensitivity analyses. 

Valuation of put option liabilities  

As disclosed in note 20, there are certain put option 
liabilities relating to the rights the non-controlling 
interests of a subsidiary have to put their remaining 
shareholding to the group and the option exercise 
date has yet to be reached. The valuation of these 
financial instruments required the directors to 
make assumptions about future operating 
performance including: 

• Revenue growth; 

• Operating margins; and 

• The discount rates applied to the projected 
future payment.  

 
The current economic climate and the COVID-19 
induced uncertainty surrounding the future 
economic conditions increased the complexity of 
forecasting. 
 
The fair value calculation is considered to be a key 
audit matter due to the extent of judgement and 
estimation required. 

Our audit work involved the following: 

• We analysed the future projected profits used 
in the model to determine whether the 
assumptions used were reasonable and 
supportable; 

• We checked that the calculation of the 
liabilities was in line with the put option 
contract; and 

• We subjected the key assumptions to 
sensitivity analyses. 

 

OTHER INFORMATION 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “ARB Holdings Limited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 
June 2020”, which includes the Certificate of the Company Secretary, the Audit Committee statutory report and 
the Directors’ report  as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, and the CEO and CFO responsibility 
statement, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the document titled “ARB Holdings Limited 
Integrated Report 2020”, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. The other information 
does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report 
that PKF Durban has been the auditor of ARB Holdings Limited for 20 years. 

 

 

PKF Durban 
Partner: RC Boulle 
Registered Auditor 
20 August 2020 
Durban   
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Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

R000’s Note 2020 2019 

Revenue – comprising sales of merchandise 1 2 352 995 2 706 186 

Cost of sales  (1 765 391) (2 055 831) 

Gross profit  587 604 650 355 

Other income  10 912 2 236 

Selling, administration and distribution costs  (452 620) (497 224) 

Operating profit before put option and impairment adjustments  145 896 155 367 

Gain from a bargain purchase  - 18 779 

Impairments 2 (76 006) (18 410) 

Put option liability fair value adjustment 20 33 003 21 248 

Profit before interest and tax 2 102 893 176 984 

Interest received 4 16 628 21 221 

Interest paid 5 (12 854) (3 851) 

Profit before tax  106 667 194 354 

Tax 6 (13 352) (49 189) 

Profit for the year  93 315 145 165 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified into profit or loss    

Revaluation of property 9 (6 085) 2 739 

Tax of other comprehensive income  1 636 (470) 

Total other comprehensive income 7 (4 449) 2 269 

Total comprehensive income  88 866 147 434 

Profit for the year attributable to:    

Non-controlling interests  9 472 10 188 

ARB ordinary shareholders  83 843 134 977 

  93 315 145 165 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Non-controlling interests  9 472 10 188 

ARB ordinary shareholders  79 394 137 246 

  88 866 147 434 

Earnings per share    

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 8.1 35.68 57.44 

Dividends per share (cents) 8.3 25.00 35.00 

• Ordinary dividend 8.3 25.00 25.00 

• Special dividend 8.3 0.00 10.00 
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Statement of financial position 
at 30 June 2020 

  

R000’s Note 2020 2019 

Assets    

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 9 429 587 412 882 

Right-of-use assets 17 69 817 - 

Goodwill and intangible assets 10 10 000 76 447 

Deferred tax 11 19 480 7 037 

  528 884 496 366 

Current assets    

Inventory 12 599 412 607 370 

Trade and other receivables 13 353 679 412 802 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 151 956 180 890 

  1 105 047 1 201 062 

Total assets  1 633 931 1 697 428 

Equity and liabilities    

Equity and reserves    

Share capital and premium 15 116 174 116 174 

Revaluation reserve 16 70 729 75 178 

Accumulated profits  856 119 831 120 

Attributable to ARB ordinary shareholders  1 043 022 1 022 472 

Non-controlling interests  137 394 133 691 

  1 180 416 1 156 163 

Non-current liabilities    

IFRS16 Lease obligations 17 64 513 - 

Operating lease straight-line liability  17 - 1 598 

Put option liability 20 4 000 19 000 

Deferred tax 11 28 004 42 937 

  96 517 63 535 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 19 260 009 374 571 

Short term loans 18 38 753 38 851 

Short term lease obligations 17 15 898 - 

Tax payable  2 338 4 308 

Put option liability 20 40 000 60 000 

  356 998 477 730 

Total equity and liabilities  1 633 931 1 697 428 
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Statement of changes in equity 
 

R000’s Note 
Share 

capital and 
premium 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Accumulated 
profits 

Equity 
attributable 

to ARB 
ordinary 

shareholders 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 
Total 

Balance at 30 June 2018  116 174 72 909 778 393 967 476 150 543 1 118 019 

Total comprehensive  
 income for the year 

 - 2 269 134 977 137 246 10 188 147 434 

Profit for the year  - - 134 977 134 977 10 188 145 165 

Other comprehensive  
 income 

7 - 2 269 - 2 269 - 2 269 

Dividends  - - (82 250) (82 250) (27 040) (109 290) 

Balance at 30 June 2019  
as previously reported 

 116 174 75 178 831 120 1 022 472 133 691 1 156 163 

Adjustment due to initial  
application of IFRS 16 

 - - (94) (94) (2 519) (2 613)  

Balance at 30 June 2019 
as restated 

 116 174 75 178 831 026 1   022 378 131 172 1 153 550 

Total comprehensive  
income for the year 

 - (4 449) 83 843 79 394 9 472 88 866 

Profit for the year  - - 83 843 83 843 9 472 93 315 

Other comprehensive  
income 

7 - (4 449) - (4 449) - (4 449) 

Dividends  - - (58 750) (58 750) (3 250) (62 000) 

Balance at 30 June 2020  116 174 70 729 856 119 1 043 022 137 394 1 180 416 
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Statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2020 

R000’s Note 2020 2019 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 25.1 192 272 167 676 

Working capital changes    

Decrease/ (Increase) in inventories   (2 612) 49 042 

Decrease in trade and other receivables  57 409 21 017 

Increase in trade and other payables  (111 678) (11 935) 

Cash generated by operating activities  135 391 225 800 

Interest received 4 16 466 21 221 

Interest paid 5 (3 618) (2 085) 

Dividends paid  (62 000) (109 290) 

Income tax paid 25.2 (40 363) (48 770) 

Net cash generated by operating activities  45 876 86 876 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Property, plant and equipment acquired   9 (51 918) (93 093) 

Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 25.3 7 956 3 554 

Repayment of put option liability  (2 277) - 

Cash paid for business acquisitions (net of cash)  - (114 718) 

Net cash utilised in investing activities  (46 239) (204 257) 

Net cash from financing activities    

Repayments of lease liabilities 17 (28 474)  

Proceeds from short term loans  (97) 38 851 

Net cash utilised in financing activities  (28 571) 38 851 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (28 934) (78 530) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  14 180 890 259 420 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 151 956 180 890 
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 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 R000’s Note 2020 2019 

1. REVENUE    
 Revenue from contracts with customers    

 - Sale of merchandise  2 352 995 2 706 186 

 Electrical division  1 743 133 2 096 776 

 Lighting Division  674 871 648 689 

 Corporate division  61 545 55 510 

 Inter-segment sales  (126 554) (94 789)  

 Disaggregated sales by segment  2 352 995 2 706 186 

 Disaggregated revenue from products    

 Cable  698 943 832 521 

 Overhead line  288 584 307 917 

 Lighting  616 983 700 704 

 General products  748 485 859 044 

 Disaggregated revenue by products  2 352 995 2 706 186 

 Disaggregation of revenue from customers    

 Wholesale  278 561 413 173 

 Retail  325 147 329 999 

 Cash  433 852 490 909  

 Mining and industry  928 350 1 011 648 

 Exports  145 868 172 614 

 Other  241 217 287 843 

 Disaggregated revenue by customer type  2 352 995 2 706 186 

 There are no outstanding performance obligations at year end.  

2. PROFIT BEFORE INTEREST AND TAX    

 
Profit before interest and tax is arrived at after taking into account the following items 
which are not disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements: 

  

 Income    

 Excess of contingent consideration taken to profit  2 124  

 Exchange rate profits / (losses) on foreign exchange  3 633 (185) 

 Profit on recognition of right of use asset  249  

 Expenditure    

 Auditors’ remuneration  1 734 2 074 

 Auditors for other services and adjustments for prior year  86 293 

 Impairments  76 006 18 410 

 Goodwill impaired 10 7 947 18 410 

 Trademarks impaired 10 58 500 - 

 Fixed assets impaired 9 8 666 - 

 Right-of-use assets impaired 17 893 - 

 Operating lease charges – premises  890 69 509 

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 25.1 326 502 

 Dividends paid to derecognised NCI now expensed  3 670 4 060 
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3. STAFF COSTS    

 Short-term employee benefits  197 027 208 012 

 Contributions to retirement funds  16 086 17 005 

 Other employment benefits  14 643 13 054 

 Retrenchment cost  6 435 2 235 

 Other staff costs  7 047 9 322 

   241 238 249 628 

 

 

Staff costs include key management personnel (as defined in note 21) and exclude directors’ remuneration (note 21). There are 

no prescribed officers 

 Short-term employee benefits comprise salaries, commissions and bonuses paid. 

 

Other employment benefits comprise travel allowances, fringe benefits on the use of company vehicles and contributions to 

medical aid funds. Other staff costs comprise accruals raised but not paid in respect of the future liability for bonuses, as well as 

staff training and related expenditure. 

  

  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS      

 Defined contribution plan      

 

It is the policy of the group to provide retirement benefits to all its employees. A number of defined contribution provident and 

pension funds, all of which are governed by the Pensions Fund Act of 1956, exist for this purpose. These include the Alexander 

Forbes Retirement Fund, Investment Solutions, Liberty Corporate Provident Fund and Momentum Funds at Work. All the 

schemes are funded by group contributions, which are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as they are incurred.   
 R000’s                                                                                                                                          Note 2020 2019 

4. INTEREST RECEIVED    

 Financial institutions  8 184 14 198 

 Finance lease receivables  162 - 

 Trade receivables  8 282 7 023 

   16 628 21 221 

5. INTEREST PAID    

 Unwinding of right-of-use lease liability 17 (8 956) - 

 Unwinding of put option liability discount to present value  20 (280) (1 766) 

 Related parties  (3 618) (2 085) 

   (12 854) (3 851) 

6. TAX    

 SA normal tax    

 ▪ Current tax 25.2 (38 538) (47 463) 

 ▪ Prior years 25.2 145 - 

 Deferred tax    

 ▪ Current year temporary differences  25 041 (1 726) 

 Tax for the year  (13 352) (49 189) 
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 R000’s Note 2020 2019 

   % % 

 SA normal tax rate  28.00 28.00 

 Adjusted for:    

 Exempt income    

 • Change in put option liability carrying value  (8.66) (3.06) 

 • Gain from a bargain purchase of Radiant  - (2.71) 

 • Other  (0.63) (0.69) 

 Expenses not deductible    

 • Goodwill write off not deductible  2.09 2.66 

 • IFRS asset impairments not deductible  2.35 - 

 • NCI dividends expensed  0.99 0.61 

 • Other  0.06 - 

 Tax loss utilised  (10.64) 0.50 

 Special allowances  (1.04) - 

 Effective rate of tax  12.52 25.31 

 

 

The Group has estimated income tax losses of R80.2m (2019: R112.3m) and capital losses of R10.1m (2019: R10.1m), other 

than as already utilised as deferred tax assets, available for offset against future taxable income and capital gains in the specific 

companies.  

 

7. TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

 Revaluation of land  (1 200) 5 300 

 Revaluation of buildings  (4 885) (2 561) 

  9 (6 085) 2 739 

 Tax on revaluation of land  269 (1 187) 

 Tax on revaluation of buildings  1 367 717 

 Total deferred tax 11 1 636 (470)  

 Total other comprehensive income  (4 449) 2 269 

 The tax charge in respect of land is calculated at the     

 effective Capital Gains Tax (“CGT”) rate.    
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8. EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE   

 
There are no instruments that have a dilutive impact on in the shares in issue 
 

  

  R000’s                                                                                                                       Note 2020 2019 

 8.1 Basic and diluted earnings per share   

  Basic earnings as disclosed 83 843 134 977 

  Weighted number of shares 235 000 235 000 

  Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 35.68 57.44 

  R000’s                                                                                                                          

 8.2 Headline earnings per share (HEPS) and diluted HEPS 

  2020  Gross Tax NCI’s share Net 

  Basic earnings as disclosed  83 843   83 843 

  Impairment of Eurolux trademarks  58 500 (16 380) - 42 120 

  Impairment of land & buildings  8 666 - - 8 666 

  Impairment of CraigCor goodwill  7 947 - (2 066) 5 881 

  Impairment of R-O-U Assets  893 (250) (167) 476 

  Loss on disposal of PP&E  326 (91) (126) 109 

  Profit on recognition of right of use asset  (249) 70 - (179) 

  Headline earnings    159 926 (16 651) (2 359) 140 916 

  Current year (cents per share)     59.96 

  2019      

  Basic earnings as disclosed  134 977   134 977 

  Gain from bargain purchase price  (18 779) - - (18 779) 

  Impairment of Goodwill  18 410 - - 18 410 

  Impairment of PP & E  2 500 (700) - 1 800 

  Loss on disposal of PP & E  502 (141) 9 370 

  Headline earnings  137 610 (841) 9 136 778 

  Prior year (cents per share)     58.20 

     

  R000’s                                                                                                                       Note 2020 2019 

 8.3 Dividends per share   

  Dividends declared and paid during the year 58 750 82 250 

  Number of shares 235 000 235 000 

  Dividends per share (cents) 25.00 35.00 

  Ordinary dividend per share (cents) 25.00 25.00 

  Special dividend per share (cents) - 10.00 

  
 
The final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2020 which has only been declared after year end has not  

  been included as a liability in the financial statements 
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  2020 2019 

 

R000’s 

Cost / 
valuation 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

& impairment 

Carrying 
value 

Cost / 
valuation 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying 
value 

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT     

 Land 155 119 - 155 119 154 449 2 500 151 949 

 Buildings 178 503 3 496 175 007 199 137 2 649 196 488 

 Plant and equipment 53 464 17 180 36 284 32 551 13 866 18 685 

 Vehicles 45 868 18 866 27 002 47 319 19 327 27 992 

 Office furniture and fittings 11 697 5 698 5 999 13 097 5 683 7 414 

 Leasehold improvements 3 325 2 398 927 3 389 1 939 1 450 

 Office equipment 3 771 1 849 1 922 5 167 1 703 3 464 

 Computer equipment 11 751 7 587 4 164 11 219 5 779 5 440 

 Capital work in progress 23 163 - 23 163 - - - 

 Total PP&E 486 661 57 074 429 587 466 328 53 446 412 882 

        

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows: 

 

 

R000’s 

Carrying 
value at 

beginning 
of year 

Additions  Transfers Revaluation  Disposals 
Depreciation 

and 
impairment 

Carrying 
value at 
end of 
year 

 2020        

 Land 151 949 1 902 2 468 (1 200) -  155 119 

 Buildings 196 488 - (6 352) (4 885) (731) (9 513) 175 007 

 Plant and equipment 18 685 22 852 - - (3 117) (2 136) 36 284 

 Vehicles 27 992 5 920 - - (3 702) (3 208) 27 002 

 
Office furniture and  
fittings 

7 414 683 - - (402) (1 696) 5 999 

 
Leasehold 
improvements 

1 450 0 - - (33) (490) 927 

 Office equipment 3 464 251 - - (23) (1 770) 1 922 

 Computer equipment 5 440 1 031 - - (274) (2 033) 4 164 

 Capital Work in progress - 19 279 3 884 - - - 23 163 

 Total PP&E 412 882 51 918 - (6 085) (8 282) (20 846) 429 587 

 

R000’s 

Carrying 
value at 

beginning 
of year 

Additions 
and 

transfers 

Business 
combination 

Revaluation  Disposals 
Depreciation 

and 
impairment 

Carrying 
value at 

end of 
year 

 2019        

 Land 149 149 - - 5 300 - (2 500) 151 949 

 Buildings 126 015 73 962 - (2 561) - (928) 196 488 

 Plant and equipment 13 676 5 007 3 731 - (340) (3 389) 18 685 

 Vehicles 24 525 9 264 1 541 - (2 671) (4 667) 27 992 

 
Office furniture and 
fittings 

9 401 879 531 - (826) (2 571) 7 414 

 
Leasehold  
improvements 

1 748 118 43 - - (459) 1 450 

 Office equipment 2 631 649 845 - (115) (546) 3 464 

 Computer equipment 4 178 3 213 573 - (104) (2 419) 5 440 

  331 323 93 092 7 263 2 739 (4 056) (17 479) 412 882 
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A register of land and buildings is available to shareholders at the registered office of the company. There are no restrictions to the 

title, nor are any pledged as security and there are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of any of the property plant 

and equipment. There were no sales of properties during the year so all valuation adjustments are ‘unrealised’. If the cost model 

had been applied, the carrying value of the land would have been R77.8m (2019: R75.9m) and the buildings would have been 

R172.2m (2019: R209.4m). The company has a “call option” to acquire the property held by a company controlled by certain key 

management of one of the subsidiary companies (Eurolux) for cash at externally appraised market value at date of exercise of the 

option.  

 

The fair value of land and buildings is determined every 3 years and, in the intervening years, are updated annually by an 

independent professionally qualified valuator, Glen MacMillan (M.I.V.S.A.; S.A.C.V. No. 2964) who has 30 years valuation 

experience and has recent experience in the locations and categories of land and buildings being valued. These full fair value 

valuations were determined at 30 June 2020 using the income method based on market related rentals for the combined valuation 

and the comparable method for land valuation. This involved estimating the future net annual income of the properties and 

capitalising this at an appropriate discount rate. In estimating the fair value of the land and buildings, the highest and best use is 

their current use. There has been no change in the valuation technique used during the prior full valuation. The fair value 

measurement of land and buildings has been classified at a level 3 (2019: level 3). There were no transfers between fair value levels 

1, 2 or 3 during the year  

 

The valuer considered the effect of COVID-19 on these valuations and in light of this, decreased rental rates as he determined them 

in the market and the current capitalisation rates being achieved in the properties specific locations. The significant key 

assumptions used in the fair valuer measurement are as follows  

Material assumptions 2020 2019 

Average capitalisation rate 11.31% 11.58% 

Average rental income per square meter R 360 R 401 

Average cost ratio 29.78% 27.05% 

 
If the average capitalisation rate changed by 0,50% upwards or downwards then the fair value adjustment to the portfolio carrying 

value would have decreased by R7.8m (2019: R8.4m) and increased by R9.1m (2019: R9.1m) respectively. 

If the average rental rate was increased by 5% upwards or downwards, the fair value adjustment to the portfolio carrying value 

would have increased by R13.4m (2019: R13.6m) and decreased by R12.8m (2019: R13.4m) respectively.  

If the average cost ratio changed by 2,00% upwards or downwards then the fair value adjustment to the portfolio carrying value 

would have decreased by R5.0m (2019: R5.4m) and increased by R5.4m (2019: R5.4m) respectively. 

 

10.  GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  2020 2019 

 

R000’s Cost  

Accumulated 
impairment/  
amortisation 

Carrying 
value 

Cost  

Accumulated 
impairment/ 
amortisation 

Carrying 
value 

 Group       

 Goodwill 17 947 (7 947) 10 000 36 357 (18 410) 17 947 

 Trademarks  58 500 (58 500) - 58 500 - 58 500 

 Software costs - - - 1 561 (1 561) - 

  76 447 (66 447) 10 000 96 418 (19 971) 76 447 

 

None of these intangibles have been pledged, have contractual commitments or whose title is restricted. Goodwill is allocated to 

the Cash Generating Units (CGU) being the business operations of the operating company CraigCor Distribution Co (Pty) Ltd. The 

carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets can be reconciled as follows: 
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R000’s 

  

Carrying 
value at 

beginning of 
year 

 

Impairment/ 
Amortisation 

Carrying 
value at end 

of year 

 2020       

 Trademark – Eurolux brand   58 500  (58 500) - 

 Goodwill – CraigCor   17 947  (7 947) 10 000 

    76 447  (66 447) 10 000 

 2019       

 Goodwill – Eurolux    18 410  (18 410) - 

 Trademark – Eurolux brand   58 500  - 58 500 

 Goodwill – CraigCor   17 947  - 17 947 

 Software costs   781  (781) - 

    95 638  (19 191) 76 447 

 

 In assessing their recoverable amount, intangible assets have been valued on a value in use basis as stated in note 29.3. Impairment 

tests relating to the Eurolux trademark was conducted as a single CGU on the business of Eurolux. Impairments are presented as a 

separate line on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  The impairment losses were recognised due to the 

recoverable amount being adversely impacted by pressure on the projected future gross margins resulting from the COVID-19 

induced anticipated tougher retail market conditions ahead. 

 

As set out in the accounting policies, impairments are assessed using the discounted cash flow basis. Cash flows are estimated over 

five years, where after an in-perpetuity growth is estimated.  In performing the cash flow projections, management has based its 

key assumptions on their best view of the ‘new normal’ post COVID-19. Guidance was taken from macro-economic forecasts 

published (standardised on the Investec forecasts) and management’s best judgement of the next few years, in COVID-19 

circumstances that make this very challenging. The impairment loss was recognised due to the recoverable amount of the Eurolux 

CGU being adversely impacted. Key assumptions used in the projections are:  

 CGU Discount rate Growth rate Terminal 
Growth rate 

Discount rate required 
 for write off (#) 

2020 CraigCor 16.4% 7.0% 3.0% 21.15% 

2019 Eurolux 12.16% 7.0% 4.0% 12.16% 

 CraigCor 15.1% 12.0% 4.0% 19.80% 

   

(#) The discounted cash flows are most sensitive to changes in the discount rate. 

 R000’s                                                                                                                                     Note 2020 2019 

11. DEFERRED TAX   

 Carrying value at beginning of year (35 900) (33 704) 

 Movements during the year attributable to:   

 Revaluation of land and buildings 1 636 (470) 

 - Adjustment to prior year - (2 047) 

 Intangible assets 16 380 219 

 Property, plant and equipment (3 418) (2 382) 

 - Adjustment to prior year - 2 047 

 Arising on IFRS 16 adoption in retained earnings 699 - 

 IFRS16 – current year 2 267 - 

 Assessed loss asset on the balance sheet 8 504 - 

 Impairments and staff accruals 1 308 
438 

9 

 Carrying value at end of year  (8 524) (35 900) 
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 The carrying value comprises:   

 Revaluation of land and buildings (21 491) (23 127) 

 Intangible assets - (16 380) 

 Property, plant and equipment (10 180) (6 762) 

 Arising on IFRS 16 capitalisation of leases 2 966 - 

 Assessed loss asset on the balance sheet 8 504 - 

 Impairments and staff accruals 11 677 10 369 

  (8 524) (35 900) 

 Deferred tax liability (28 004) (42 937) 

 Deferred tax asset 19 480 7 037 

  (8 524) (35 900) 

 Balance at 1 July                                                                          (35 900)  (33 704) 

 Current year charge                                                                                                                          

 • Current year timing differences                                                                                         6 25 041 (1 726) 

 IFRS 16 adoption 699 - 

 Included in other comprehensive income                                                                               7  1 636 (470) 

 Balance at year end (8 524) (35 900) 

 
Subsidiaries of the group have estimated deferred tax assets of R22.4m (2019: R31.4) which have not been recognised due to the 
uncertainty regarding the probability that future taxable profit will be available to utilise these losses. 

 

12. INVENTORY    

 Merchandise for resale  659 863 666 736 

 Allowance for impairment   (60 451) (59 366) 

   599 412 607 370 

 

Inventory has been valued as stated in note 29.5, which includes the effect of COVID-19. Management assessed the impact of 

COVID-19 on the net realisable value of Inventory and, because of the long shelf life, low technological obsolesce and the low stock 

holding levels, the increase in the inventory provision as a result COVID-19 was not material. There is a general notarial bond 

registered over the Eurolux (Pty) Ltd inventory with a book value of R329.6m (2019: not applicable) which has been pledged to 

Nedbank for security for their general banking facility of R50m. This facility was not utilised at year end. No other inventory has 

been pledged as security. 

 Impairment allowance    

 
Allowance for impairment in respect of inventory can be reconciled as 
follows: 

   

 Opening carrying value   (59 366) (28 410)  

 Decrease / (Increase) in impairment allowance recognised in cost of sales   25.1 (10 570) 6 911 

 Utilised to write off stock  9 485 -  

 Arising on acquisition of Radiant) and GMC  - (37 867) 

 Closing carrying value  (60 451) (59 366) 
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 R000’s 2020 2019  

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

 Gross trade receivables 355 986 406 391 

 Expected credit loss allowance (4 843) (2 720) 

 Provision for credit notes (9 661) (10 219) 

 Net trade and other receivables 341 482 393 452 

 Deposits 2 301 6 066 

 Other receivables  2 696 8 476 

 Financial instruments 346 479 407 994 

 Prepayments and VAT refundable 7 200 4 808 

  353 679 412 802 

 
The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximated their fair value due to 

the short-term nature of these instruments. 
  

 Expected credit loss allowance   

 The allowance can be reconciled as follows:   

 R000’s                                                                                                                                     Note 2020 2019 

 Opening carrying value (2 720) (2 528) 

 Provisions in businesses acquired - (1 450) 

 Provision utilised  1 922 749 

 Reversal of allowance - 2 321 

 
New allowance raised                                                                                                               
25.1 

(4 045) (1 812) 

 Closing carrying value (4 843) (2 720) 

 

The following table illustrates the relationship between aged gross trade receivables and the impairment allowance: 

 

 

R000’s  
Estimated 

Gross 
carrying 

amount 2020 

Loss 
Allowance 
(Lifetime 
Expected 

credit loss) 
2020 

 
ECL % 

 
Net 

2020 

 
Estimated 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

2019 

Loss 
Allowance 
(Lifetime 
Expected 

credit 
loss) 2019 

ECL % 
 
 
 

Net 
2019 

 
 

 Not past due  291 310 (1 515) 0.52% 289 795 347 400 (681) 0.19% 346 719 

 Past due 1 to 30 days  18 432 (156) 0.84% 18 276 40 982 (238) 0.58% 40 744 

 Past due 31 to 60 days  20 290 (1 016) 5.00% 19 274 9 352 (112) 1.20% 9 240 

 Past due 61 to 90 days  8 404 (781) 9.29 7 623 345 (49) 14.20 296 

 Past due 91 days plus  7 889 (1 375) 17.42 6 514 8 312 (1 640) 19.73% 6 672 

   346 325 (4 843) 1.39% 341 482 406 391 (2 720) 0.67% 403 671 
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 Estimated aggregated credit loss rates as follows:  Electrical % Lighting %  
 2020    Insured Uninsured Eurolux Radiant 

 Not past due     1.14 0.40 0.04 0.03 

 Less than 30 days past due    4.34 1.69 0.23 0.10 

 31 – 60 days past due    5.92 2.25 0.42 1.08 

 61 – 90 days past due    6.25 2.64 0.68 2.99 

 91+ days past due    6.57 2.82 2.27 70.48 

 2019        

 Not past due     0.04 0.48 0.02 0.29 

 Less than 30 days past due    0.18 1.99 0.05 0.74 

 31 – 60 days past due    0.53 2.41 0.24 3.33 

 61 – 90 days past due    0.79 2.62 83.45 12.15 

 91+ days past due    0.79 2.62 83.45 100.00 

 
Trade receivables inherently expose the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial loss if customers fail to 
make payments as they fall due. The Estimated Credit Loss (ECL) allowance was calculated based on the year end receivables’ age 
analysis, based on the past due status. In the electrical division the customers are disaggregated between insured and uninsured 
receivables. 
 
The gross trade receivables are spread across the following wide customer categories: government; parastatals; municipalities; large 
industry/mining sector; large contractors; small contractors; wholesalers; export customers; and retail and hardware chains. These 
diverse trade receivable balances reduce the group’s overall exposure to credit risk. Interest is charged on some of the overdue 
accounts. The last 3 years have been an adverse risk period and insurers have experienced adverse loss ratios. As a result, insurers 
have increased premiums and reduced cover percentages. The full effects of COVID-19 have not been experienced yet, as many 
companies have used cash flows from reductions in working capital to fund operating expenditure and will not have the financial 
capacity to restart operations. Subsequent to the start of COVID-19, insurance companies have also aggressively reduced debtors 
(insured) limits, often resulting in the group taking on additional ‘own risk’ credit in excess of the insurance limits to maintain sales 
levels to these customers. This is only done by employees authorised to do so in terms of the board’s strict delegation of authority 
levels.  Some customers were initially given extended payment terms, but those that have now not come into terms or have formal 
short-term payment arrangements have been handed over. No benefit from government assistance has been obvious in our industry 
and no cognisance of this has been taken in exercising our judgement.  
 
While the group holds personal or related party sureties for R94.0m of the receivables at year end, reliance is placed on credit 
insurance as the primary credit protection basis. Most receivables are insured except government; parastatals; accounts less than 
R200k (2019: R100k) or where management have given more credit than the insurers will allow. R2.7m (2019: R1.8m) of insurance 
recoveries have been netted off the ECL impairment provision of the insured debtor’s book at year end. As at the year-end R94.0m 
(2019 R149.7m) of trade receivables were not covered by credit insurance. Credit evaluations are performed, using the reports and 
tools of credit vetting agencies amongst other things, on new customers, those experiencing payment problems and existing 
customers requiring credit above their previously authorised levels.  
 
Listings of overdue customer balances are reviewed daily and any customers exceeding their credit must settle their overdue balances 
before any further credit is extended. Overdue trade receivables are handed over to insurers or attorneys for collection as soon as it 
becomes apparent that recovery may be uncertain. As at the year-end contractual trade receivables of R15.6m (2019 R19.0m) were 
written off during the year but are still subject to enforcement activity. The credit risk in respect of other receivables is considered 
by the directors to be minimal as it relates to transactions with major corporations within the Republic of South Africa.  
 
Forward looking ECL adjustments are based on externally observable data and future economic views of Investec Bank and includes 
the number of liquidations, gross fixed capital formation, GDP growth, inflation, CPI, etc. The COVID-19 pandemic has put liquidity 
pressure on many of our contractor customers and, at present, there is very limited visibility on the timing of any future recovery in 
the construction economy and consequently the group has adjusted the historic credit loss rates in the ECL provision matrix to cater 
for these anticipated future liquidity pressures. This conservatism recognises that future losses will be almost double pre-COVID-19 
levels, perhaps only in the short term 
 
The group has ceded its debtors to Nedbank to secure banking facilities. Facility and utilisation levels are set out in note 14 below 
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 R000’s                                                                                                                                      
Notes 2020 2019 

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    

 Money market instruments  106 466 125 779 

 Bank balances and call deposits 45 490 55 111 

  151 956 180 890 

 

 
Money market instruments are collective investments in various cash and cash equivalent investments with a 24-hour liquidity, 
mainly the NedGroup Core Income Fund R106.2m (2019: R 107.9m), Investec Money Market funds R0.2m (2019: R6.4m) and 
Nedbank Deposit Notes Rnil (2019: R11.5m). Fair value approximates the carrying amount due to the short-term nature of these 
investments. 
 
The Group has R256.1m of banking facilities with Nedbank Ltd. Of this facility, R56.6m (2019: R44.5m) was utilised at 30 June 2020; 
R45.0m for guarantees (2019: R3.3m); R8.6m for letters of credit (2019: R6.6m); R2.5m for supply chain finance (2019: R26.0); Rnil 
for overdraft facilities (2019: R7.9); and R0.4m for the ‘marked’ percentage of forward exchange contracts (2019: R0.7m). Refer 
note 22.2 (Liquidity risk).  
 

 
 R000’s                                                                                                                                      
Notes 

2020 2019 

15. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM   

 Authorised   

 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cents each  100 100 

 Issued    

 235 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cents  24 24 

 Share premium  116 150 116 150 

   116 174 116 174 

 Ordinary shareholders are entitled to equal voting rights per share at shareholder meetings and to receive equal dividends per 
share. There are no restrictions attaching to these shares. There are no limitations on the payment of dividends and the repayment 
of capital. There are no share option schemes so no shares have been reserved for share option schemes.  There are no treasury 
shares repurchased by the group. The directors are authorised, until the forthcoming annual general meeting to issue and allot 5% 
of the unissued shares for any purpose and upon such terms and conditions as they deem fit. 
 

 

 

  R000’s Notes 2020 2019 

16. RESERVES    

 Revaluation reserve    

 Balance at the beginning of the year  75 178 72 909 

 Revaluation for the year 7 (6 085) 2 739 

 Less deferred tax thereon 7/11 1 636 (470) 

 Balance at the end of the year  70 729 75 178 

 
The revaluation reserve is a reserve that represents the amount by which land and buildings have been revalued. There are no 
restrictions on the distribution of this reserve. 

17. LEASES    
 Impact on the statements of financial position    

 Right-of-use assets – premises    

 Right-of-use assets on initial recognition on 1 July 2019  89 218 - 

 Additions  5 041 - 

 Derecognition of ROU asset and recognition of finance lease 
receivable 

 (1 921) - 

 Impairments  (893) - 

 Depreciation  (21 628) - 

   69 817 - 

 Lease liabilities    
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 R000’s Note 2020 2019 

     

 Right of use liabilities on initial recognition  94 888 - 

 Additions  5 041 - 

 Finance costs  8 956 - 

 Lease payments  (28 474) - 

   80 411 - 

 Long term  64 513  

 Short term  15 898  

 Lease straight line liability   - 1 598 

 
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 22.2. 
 

 Leasing activities    

 

The group has entered into a number of lease agreements in respect of fixed property used for warehousing, offices and branch 
trading facilities. These leases generally have an initial three to five-year lease term with options to renew at market-related 
rentals. Annual escalations from 6% to 10% are common to all leases. No leases contain contingent rent provisions or covenants. 
 

18 SHORT TERM LOANS  38 754 38 851 

 
Borrowing represent loans made by the NCI’s in Eurolux to fund their portion of the investment in Radiant, bear interest at prime 
overdraft rates and are repayable on demand. 
 

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    

 Trade payables   203 215 292 642 

 Accruals  30 519 38 764 

 Amount due to the GMC Powerlines vendor  4 782 20 031 

 Financial instruments 22 238 516 351 437 

 Operating lease straight-line liability 17 - 3 210 

 Leave pay and payroll accruals  14 127 16 301 

 VAT payable  7 366 3 623 

   260 009 374 571 

 

 
The carrying value of trade and other payables approximated their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
The amount due to the GMC Powerlines vendor is the remaining consideration relating to a business combination which will be 
paid by September 2020. The 2019 amounts due to vendors related to both GMC and CraigCor acquisitions. Changes in amounts 
due to vendors are set out in note 21. 
 

20. PUT OPTION LIABILITY    

 CraigCor put option liability    

 Balance at the end of the previous year  19 000 33 475 

 Payment made to early settle one of the put options  (2 277) - 

 Realised gain on early settlement of put option  (4 848) - 

 Put option liability fair value adjustment  (8 155) (16 241) 

 Unwinding of present value discount 6 280 1 766 

 Balance at end of the year shown as long-term liability  4 000 19 000 

 

 

The put option liability is in respect of the right of the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary CraigCor to put his remaining 

shareholding to the group at a multiple of 60% of the group’s 120-day Volume Weighted Average Price Earnings Multiple (VWAPM) 

(with a minimum of 4 and a maximum of 7,5) on the (future) date when the put is exercised, applied to the annual average of 

CraigCor’s 36 months ‘profit after tax’ immediately preceding the group's most recent reporting period applied to the listed 

company’s VWAPM. This put option cannot be put until 1 March 2023 at the earliest. For a maturity analysis and further disclosures 

refer to note 22.2 and 22.6  
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Forecasts were redone post the commencement of the COVID-19 period. COVID-19 had the effect of reducing CraigCor’s forecast 

income. Key assumptions used in estimating the CraigCor put option liability are: Average growth of 8% (2019: 12%), price earnings 

multiple of 4.0x (the ‘floor price’) (2019: 6.5x) and a discount rate at the incremental borrowing rate of 7.25% (2019: 10.25%). If 

the multiple had been increased to 7.5x (the cap) the liability would increase by R3.0m. 

 

 R000’s Note 2020 2019 

 Eurolux put option liability    

 Balance at beginning of the year  60 000 65 007 

 Put option liability fair value adjustment  (20 000) (5 007) 

 Balance at end of the year shown as short-term liability  40 000 60 000 

 

The put option liability is currently exercisable. This liability is in respect of the right of the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary 

Eurolux (Pty) Ltd to put their remaining shareholding to the group at a multiple of 60% of the group’s 120-day Volume Weighted 

Average Price Earnings Multiple (VWAP) (with a minimum of 4x and a maximum of 7,5x) (adjusted to reverse the effects of IFRS as 

it relates to put options) applied to the annual average of Eurolux’s previous 36 months profit after tax, immediately preceding the 

group's most recent reporting period. As the put options are currently puttable at any time, the liability is based on actual 

information that existed at the reporting date. For a maturity analysis and further disclosures refer to note 22.2 and 22.6. The 

change in value of the liability is as a result in the change in the historical profits and the change in the VWAP since the last 

measurement date. 

 

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 

Ultimate controlling company: Burke Consolidated Holdings (Pty) Ltd. Ultimate controlling party: Mr. AR Burke    
 
The group has a related party relationship with non-controlling shareholders of Eurolux who are also directors and key 
management, directors and key management personnel. The nature of the business of the subsidiaries of the group is set out in 
note 26 and in the directors’ report.  Details of material transactions with related parties are disclosed below.  
 

Statement of Financial Position    

Put option liability CraigCor director and NCI 20 4 000 19 000 

Amounts due to vendors of GMC Powerlines 19 4 782 15 986 

Amounts due to vendors of CraigCor 19 - 4 045 

Short term borrowings from                            Eurolux NCI’s 18 38 754 38 851 

Put option liability                                              Eurolux NCI’s 20 40 000 60 000 

Statement of Comprehensive Income    

Rentals paid to companies controlled by       Eurolux NCI’s (*) (16 052) (14 863) 

Interest paid on loans from                               Eurolux NCI’s  (3 616) (2 085) 

Procurement from companies controlled by Eurolux NCI’s  (239) (658) 

 

(*) The group has a “call option” to acquire the property held by Green Willows Properties (Pty) Ltd, a company controlled by 

Eurolux NCI’s for cash at an externally appraised market value at date of exercise of the option. The group rents the Eurolux Cape 

Town property on market related terms from these Eurolux NCI’s. The Cape Town rental is R612k (R75.43/m2) per month on a 

triple net basis, escalating at 8% per annum and runs to November 2028 with a reversion to market in January 2021; 2024; 2027. 

Eurolux has the right at any time after June 2021, by giving six months’ notice to terminate the lease in event that the property no 

longer meets its operational requirements in Eurolux’s reasonable discretion. Management currently has no reason to believe that 

the property doesn’t meet its requirements. The Johannesburg lease terminated in June 2020 where the rental was R673k (R78. 

83/m2) per month on a triple net basis. 

 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel of the group are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the group, both directly and indirectly, and include directors of the holding and subsidiary 

companies, divisional directors and regional managers. 
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      Directors remuneration  

 
R000’s 

Salary 
Performance 

bonus Directors fees 

Contributions 
to retirement 

funds 

Other 
employment 

benefits Total 

 2020       

 Executive Directors       

    WR Neasham 3 240 - - 281 247 3 768 

    GM Scrutton 2 009 - - 329 143 2 481 

 Non-Executive Directors       

    ST Downs - - 400 - - 400 

    JS Dixon - - 426 - - 426 

    RB Patmore - - 665 - - 665 

  4 249 - 1 491 610 390 7 740 

 
R000’s 

Salary 
Performance 

bonus Directors fees 

Contributions 
to retirement 

funds 

Other 
employment 

benefits Total 

 2019       

 Executive directors       

    WR Neasham 3 178 - - 318 242 3 738 

    GM Scrutton 1 930 - - 364 138 2 432 

 Non-executive directors      

    AR Burke - - 498 - - 498 

    ST Downs - - 419 - - 419 

    JS Dixon - - 424 - - 424 

    RB Patmore - - 467 - - 467 

  5 108 - 1 808 682 380 7 978 

Remuneration paid to key management (Excluding directors reported above)  

 R000’s 2020 2019 

 Short-term employment benefits 32 522 29 729 

 Contributions to retirement funds 3 104 2 306 

 13th cheques and bonuses 1 081 1 106 

 Other employment allowances and benefits 3 191 2 904 

  39 898 36 045 

 

 
R000’s At amortised 

cost 

At fair value 
through profit 

and loss 

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT   

 Classification of financial instruments   

 Assets    

 2020   

 Trade and other receivables  346 479 - 

 Cash and cash equivalents 151 956 - 

 2019   

 Trade and other receivables  407 994 - 
 Cash and cash equivalents 180 890 - 
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 R000’s At amortised 
cost 

At fair value 
through profit 

and loss 

 Liabilities   

 2020   

 Put option liabilities - 44 000 

 Lease Liabilities  80 411  

 Short term loans 38 754  

 Trade and other payables 238 516  

 2019   

 Put option liabilities - 79 000 

 Short term loans 38 851  

 Trade and other payables 351 437  

    

 

The group’s operations expose it to a number of financial instrument risks, namely credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign 
exchange risks. The group has a financial risk management process in place to protect against and minimise the potential effects 
of these financial risks. This note presents information regarding the exposure to each of these risks and processes for managing 
them. 

  

 22.1 Credit risk 

 
 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations and arises principally from the group’s gross trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents held at banking 
institutions. 

  

 

 The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and it is the group’s policy that all customers who wish 
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, trade receivable balances are monitored 
on an ongoing basis with the result that the group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The group also believes that 
it has no significant exposure to credit risk due to the large number of customers comprising the group’s customer base 
and their dispersion across different industries and geographical areas. Credit risk in respect of ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
(Pty) Ltd, Eurolux (Pty) Ltd, Radiant (Pty) Ltd and CED – Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Ltd is reduced as they 
maintain credit insurance in respect of all their customers except Government, Parastatals and small accounts with 
balances under R200 000 (2019: R100 000). The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 13. COVID-
19 and its effects on an overleveraged government has had a larger effect on the construction industry and those 
companies that service it. This includes fewer large projects to sustain the industry (many of which used to be state funded 
infrastructure developments) and many customers becoming very illiquid, impacting on their ability to pay their debts 
timeously or at all. The effects of this have been included in the assessment of the receivable impairment provisions and 
business downsizing to reflect the lower expected trading levels.   

  

 
 To limit the credit risk exposure relating to cash and cash equivalents, the group’s cash is placed only with reputable 

financial institutions of high credit standing and limits its exposure to AA rated (or better) counterparties. 

  The maximum exposure is the carrying amounts as disclosed in note 14. 

   

 22.2 Liquidity risk 

   Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

  

 

 The group ensures, as far as possible, that it has sufficient liquidity available to meet its liabilities as and when they fall 
due.  Daily and monthly cash flow requirements are monitored to ensure sufficient cash is available on demand or that 
access to facilities is available to meet expected operational expenses. Any surplus cash is appropriately invested. The 
group maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank facilities and inter-
company funding. In terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, there is no limit on the group’s authority to 
raise interest-bearing debt. 

 
 Details of the banking facilities are set out in note 14 above 

  

 Financial liabilities - Maturity analysis 

 
The table below summarises the gross (undiscounted) maturity profile of the financial liabilities (not all liabilities). The put option 
liability maturity analysis is based on earliest date of the contractual undiscounted payments of the put option liability. 
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 R000’s  2020 2019 

 Payable more than 5 years    

 Lease liability  22 991 - 

 Payable 1 to 5 years    

 Lease liability  56 419 - 

 Put option liability (*)  4 490 26 543 

 Payable in 1 to 12 months    

 Put option liability (**)  40 000 60 000 

 Short term borrowings   38 754 38 851 

 Lease liability  32 290 - 

 Trade and other payables  238 516 351 437 

(*) Relates to the CraigCor put options and can only be exercised at the earliest 1 March 2023 

(**) Relates to the Eurolux put options which are already exercisable, at the option of the non-controlling interests, and are payable 

6 months after notice has been given.  

 

 22.3  Interest rate risk 

 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the interest rate will affect the group’s results or value of its financial 

instruments, namely its cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing borrowings.  

  

 

 The group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relate primarily to the cash and cash equivalents and 
short-term loans, with a variable interest rate. As part of the process of managing the group’s interest rate risk, interest 
rate characteristics of surplus cash investments are positioned according to expected movement in the interest rate. The 
group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in the interest rates. 

 

 

 Surplus cash and cash equivalents exposed to interest rate risk are placed with institutions and facilities which yield the 
highest rate of return, but which are still within acceptable liquidity maturities and risk parameters. The cash equivalent 
balances vary during the month and during the year in line with business cycles. The sensitivity analysis below is based on 
the year-end cash and loans receivable equivalents and short-term loans balances. 

 

 

Sensitivity analysis 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of profit before tax to a possible change in the interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant.  
 

 R000’ 2020 2019 

 Cash and cash equivalents    

 Increase of 100 basis points would result in an improvement of profit before tax of  1 520 1 809 

 Decrease of 200 basis points would result in a reduction of profit before tax of  (3 309) (3 618) 

 Short term loans   

 Increase of 100 basis points would result in a reduction of profit before tax of  (388) (389) 

 Decrease of 200 basis points would result in an improvement of profit before tax of  775 778 

 
 
22.4  Foreign exchange risk 

 

 ARB Global, CED and ARB Electrical counter their exposure to foreign currency risk against stronger currencies by entering 

into forward exchange contracts where there is a pre-determined selling price. Eurolux manages its foreign exchange 

exposures by taking out forward exchange contracts for all payment tern that are in excess of 14 days form bill of lading, 

and all fixed term contracts are covered forward.  Such exposure arises from purchases in currencies other than in South 

African Rands. It is the group’s policy to make use of forward exchange contracts to eliminate the currency exposure on 

any individual transaction for which the payment is anticipated to be more than one month after the group has entered 

into a firm commitment for a purchase. The mark-to-market valuation of FEC contracts are included in profit and loss and 

the residual balances reflected in receivables or payables as is appropriate.  The group does not formally apply hedge 

accounting to its foreign currency risk. 
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 Forward exchange contracts which relate to future commitments at year end were:  

Foreign currency  
000’s 

Ave rate Matures 

US$  2020 1 523 17.33 1 to 4 months 

- 2019 2 265 14.37 1 to 4 months 

EUR 2020 19 19.36 1 month 

- 2019 91 16.83 1 month 

  

 The group has the following exposures in foreign currencies as follows: 

 2020 2019 

 000’s  US$ Euro US$ Euro 

 Year-end spot rates:   17.35 19.49 14.13 17.96 

 Foreign denominated receivables  326 21 465 6 

 Foreign denominated cash and equivalents  253 3 429 60 

 Foreign denominated payables  (2 563) (57) (3 469) (70) 

 On Balance Sheet exposures  (1 984) (33) (2 575) (4) 

 Open purchase orders  (4 194) 13 (1 884) (91) 

 Open sales orders  353 - 244 - 

 Open normal Letters of Credit (not accrued)  - - 83 - 

 Open Forward Exchange contracts (buy)  1 423 19 2 265 91 

 Total exchange exposure  (4 402) (1) (1 867) (4) 

 Foreign Exchange - Sensitivity analysis  R000’s R000’s R000’s R000’s 

 
If the Rand weakened by 10%, it would result in a 

decrease of profit before tax of: 
 (7 637) (2) (2 638) (7) 

 
If the Rand strengthened by 20%, it would result in an 

increase of profit before tax of: 
 15 274 4 5 275 14 

  

In practice, many of our products we import are not locally manufactured, so all suppliers would be exposed to the same movement, 

and these increases would be passed onto the customers, or decreases demanded back by these customers. 

22.5 Capital management 

 The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that 

it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return 

to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk. 

 

 The group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The group changes the capital structure and makes adjustments 

to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the number of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 

to shareholders, issue new shares, repurchase shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The board has approved a maximum 

of 30% gearing as an acceptable level of gearing.  

 There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year and the board again confirmed 

the 30% gearing limit. The group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The banking facilities have 

a maximum of 2 times ‘good debtors’ covenant. The group has not exceeded any authorised borrowing levels during the 

year. 

 The group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net interest-bearing 

debt (excluding the right-of-use lease liability, offset by right-of-use assets) divided by capital. Net interest-bearing debt 

is calculated excluding the put option liability, the right-of-use lease liability and less cash and cash equivalents, as set out 

in the table below. The directors have clarified this definition of ‘net debt’, used in determining the compliance with a 

board mandate of 30% gearing Capital comprises all components of equity. The group meets the JSE capital requirements 
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and there are no other externally imposed capital requirements. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 30 June was as 

follows: 

 R000’s  2020 2019 

 Short term loans  38 754 38 851 

 (Less) cash and cash equivalents  (151 956) (180 890) 

 Net debt   (113 202) (142 039) 

 Total equity  1 180 416 1 156 163 

 Debt to adjusted capital ratio  (9.57%) (12.3%) 

These ratios are within the group’s stated gearing limit. 

 

If the right-of-use lease liabilities were included in the gearing ratio, the ‘Debt to adjusted capital ratio’ would have been 

(2.77%)  

 

22.6 Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 

 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are categorised in its entirety 

into the three levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement in its entirety: 

 

R000’s Note Level 2020 2019 

Put option liabilities non-current  20 3 4 000 19 000 

 current 20 3 40 000 60 000 

   44 000 79 000 

 

There have been no transfers between levels.  The fair value of the put option financial liabilities disclosed under level 3 has been 

determined in accordance with the predetermined contractual valuation method in accordance with the valuation method, 

disclosed in note 20. In the valuation, in addition to the assumptions disclosed in note 20, the significant inputs which are 

unobservable from market data is Eurolux’s average past 36 months results amounting to R23.0m (2019: R30.1m) and for 

CraigCor it is its average projected last 36 months results prior to the first date the option can be put amounting to R4.5m (2019: 

R10.2m).  

 

 23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 23.1  Contingencies 

During 2020 a statutory fine for late submission of the employment equity returns of R1.5m was imposed on a subsidiary; 

ARB Electrical Wholesalers. Management have appealed and, based on legal advice, believe that no liability exists and no 

provision has been made as the return was submitted 1 day late, because the Department of Labour website was 

overloaded and the returns were manually submitted the next day. 

 

 23.2  Commitments 

 The group has capital commitments of: 

   2020 2019 

 (R000)  
Contracted 

Not 
Contracted Contracted  

Not 
Contracted 

 Land and buildings  88 000 1 793 98 503 - 

 Computers  89 4 100 - - 

 Motor vehicles  - - - 2 736 

 Furniture and fittings, plant and equipment  - 286 3 664 3 724 

    88 089 6 359 102 167 6 460 

 

23.3  Bank Guarantees 

 A limited cross guarantee, incorporating a cession of loan funds has been given by each of ARB Holdings Limited, ARB 

Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd, GMC Powerlines (Pty) Ltd, Industrial Cable Supplies (Pty) Ltd and ARB Global (Pty) Ltd in 
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favour of Nedbank for general banking and trade facilities granted to ARB Electrical Division of R11m (2019: 48.0m) and 

trade facilities of R92.0m. 

 

 A limited guarantee, incorporating a cession of loan funds has been given in favour of Nedbank for General Banking and 

Trade facilities granted to Eurolux (Pty) Ltd of R153.1m (2019: R55.0m). 

 

 General banking facilities within the group are unutilised at 30 June 2020. Trade facilities have been utilised for letters of 

credit, forward exchange contracts and similar trade products to the extent of R56.6m (2019: R44.6m). 

 

24. SEGMENT REPORT 

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting on operating divisions of the group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their 
performance. The group’s reportable segments were identified primarily based on the difference in products or services offered 
by the different segments rather than geographical area or regulatory environments in which they operate. 
 
Based on management’s monthly significant reporting segments, the segment report has been prepared by reportable operating 
segment. As a result, the primary reporting format is by business segments with no secondary reporting format. 
 
The group has three operating segments from which it derives its revenue. The activities associated with each segment are noted 
below: 
Electrical  -Distributors of electrical products across three main categories: power and instrumentation cable, overhead line 
  equipment and conductors, and low voltage products. 
Lighting  - Distributors of incandescent, energy-saving LED and fluorescent lamps, light fittings and electrical accessories. 
Corporate - Property holding and specialist IT hardware, software services and support. 
 
The following table presents revenue and profit information and certain asset and liability information regarding the group’s 
business segments.  
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R000’s Electrical Lighting Corporate 

Inter-company 
elimination and 

reallocation Total 

 2020      

 Segment revenue 1 746 458 674 871 61 545 (129 879) 2 352 995 

 Inter-segment revenue (3 325) (33 590) (58 583) 95 498 - 

 Sales to external customers 1 743 133 641 281 2 962 (34 381) 2 352 995 

 Depreciation and amortisation 56 391 17 804 1 243 (41 631) 33 807 

 Operating profit  73 317 28 521 54 138 (10 080) 145 896 

 
Impairment of goodwill, trade- 
        mark and other PP&E 

(8 841) - (19 324) (47 841) (76 006) 

 Change in put option liability 13 003 - - 20 000 33 003 

 Net profit before interest and tax 77 479 28 521 34 814 (37 921) 102 893 

 Investment income - - 39 250 (39 250) - 

 Interest received - - 17 159 (531) 16 628 

 Interest paid (11 035) (27 525) - 25 706 (12 854) 

 Profit before tax 66 444 996 91 223 (51 996) 106 667 

 Tax (15 734) 11 036 (17 213) 8 559 (13 352) 

 Profit for the year 50 710 12 032 74 010 (43 437) 93 315 

 Segment assets 1 091 309 607 770 730 318 (845 466) 1 663 931 

 Segment liabilities (544 440) (394 459) (265 861) 751 244 (453 516) 

 
Entity wide disclosure 
Exports (mainly Sub-Saharan Africa) 103 586 42 282 - - 145 868 

 

 2019      

 Segment revenue 2 096 776 648 689 55 510 (94 789) 2 706 186 

 Inter-segment revenue (111) (43 431) (52 064) 95 606 - 

 Sales to external customers 2 096 665 605 258 3 446 817 2 706 186 

 Depreciation and amortisation 11 332 2 924 3 527 (135) 17 648 

 Operating profit  85 555 35 374 44 973 (10 535) 155 367 

 Impairment of goodwill -  - (18 410) 18 410 

 Impairment of goodwill (26 234)   26 234 - 

 Gain on bargain purchase price  18 779 - - 18 779 

 Put option derivative (5 000) - (9 500) 14 500 - 

 Change in put option liability 16 241 - - 5 007 21 248 

 Net profit before interest and tax 70 562 54 153 35 473 16 796 176 984 

 Investment income - - 105 360 (105 360) - 

 Interest received 19 458 403 26 988 (25 682) 21 221 

 Interest paid (4 272) (14 866) (10 341) 25 628 (3 851) 

 Profit before tax 85 748 39 690 157 480 (88 564) 194 354 

 Tax (27 946) (6 118) (17 078) 1 953 (49 189) 

 Profit for the year 57 802 33 572 140 402 (86 611) 145 165 

 Segment assets 888 237 461 307 713 141 (365 257) 1 697 428 

 Segment liabilities (347 889) (251 434) (202 673) 260 731 (541 265) 

 Entity wide disclosure 132 422 40 192 - - 172 614 

 Exports (mainly Sub-Saharan Africa)      
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Geographical information 

All trading activities and non-current assets of the segments are domiciled in South Africa. No single customer contributes more 

than 10% of the group’s revenue. 

25.  STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW NOTES 

R000’s 2020 2019 

25.1  Operating cash flow before working capital changes   

Profit for the year                                                                                                                  SOCI 93 315 145 165 

Adjusted for items disclosed later in the statement of cash flow   

- Interest received                                                                                                  SOCI (16 628) (21 221) 

- Interest paid                                                                                                         SOCI 12 854 3 851 

- Income tax                                                                                                            SOCI 13 352 49 189 

Adjusted for non-cash transactions   

- Change of put option liability fair value                                                           20 (33 003) (21 248) 

- Gain from a bargain purchase on acquisition of Radiant                              - (18 779) 

- Gain from settlement of deferred compensation (2 124) - 

- Impairment of goodwill                                                                                      10 7 947 18 410 

- Impairment of trademark                                                                                   10 58 500 - 

- Depreciation and impairment of property plant & equipment                     9 20 846 17 479 

- Depreciation of right of use assets                                                                     17 21 628 - 

- Impairment of right-of-use assets                                                                      17  893 - 

- Movement in inventory impairment provision                                               12 10 570 (6 911) 

- Movement in accounts receivable ECL provision                                            13 4 045 (509) 

- Amortisation of intangible assets                                                                      10 - 781 

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment                                         2 326 502 

- Profit on derecognition of right of use asset (249)  

 Operating lease straight line adjustment - 967 

 192 272 167 676 

25.2 Tax paid   

Tax owing at beginning of year                                                                                        SOFP (4 308) (5 615) 

Current year tax charge                                                                                                           6 (38 538) (47 463) 

Current year prior period adjustment                                                                                   6 145 - 

Tax owing at year end                                                                                                        SOFP 2 338 4 308 

Tax paid (40 363) (48 770) 

25.3 Proceeds on sale of property plant and equipment   

Disposals of property plant and equipment                                                                          9 8 282 4 056 

Loss on disposal included in profit and loss                                                                           2 (326) (502) 

 7 956 3 554 
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  Ownership Shares Issued 

   Number of shares 

 R000’s % 2020 2019 

26 INVESTMENTS IN DIRECT SUBSIDIARIES    

 ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd (Local empowered electrical wholesaler) 74% 10 000 10 000 

 Eurolux (Pty) Ltd (Lighting wholesaler) 60% 1 900 1 900 

 Xact ERP Solutions (Pty) Ltd (IT system developer and provider) 100% 100 100 

 ARB Global (Pty) Ltd (Global electrical wholesaler) 100% 100 100 

 CED – Consolidated Electrical Distributor (Pty) Ltd (Chint distributor) 100% 120 120 

 Company’s share of the aggregate profits after tax of subsidiaries  36 428 84 169 

 

All investments are measured at cost in the company’s separate financial statements.  All subsidiaries are incorporated in the 

Republic of South Africa. Set out below is the summarised information in respect of each subsidiary with material non-controlling 

interest. As disclosed in note 20, the Eurolux and CraigCor non-controlling interests hold a ‘put option’ over their shares in the 

respective companies. In terms of the group’s accounting policy for these put options, the non-controlling interest is derecognised 

and consequently the respective subsidiaries are not included in the summary below. The group also has a ‘call option’ over these 

shares held by the Eurolux and CraigCor non-controlling interests, but only in the event that a non-controlling interest’s 

employment is terminated. The ‘call option’ value will be determined using the same method as the ‘put option’ disclosed in note 

20. The partially owned subsidiaries have minority protections in their MOI’s that set out the shareholder agreed minority 

protections. These include the standard ‘put and calls’ typical of a shareholders agreement. In addition to Company’s Act special 

resolution powers, Eurolux NCI’s can veto items not in the ordinary course of business such as appointment / retrenchment of 

managements, issue of shares or guarantees etc. 

 

The summarised information below is presented before intra-group but after intra sub-group eliminations and adjustments on 

consolidation: 

 
 

ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
(Pty) Ltd 

  R000’s  2020 2019 

 % of interest and voting rights held by non-controlling interest 26% 26% 

 Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interest 9 472 10 188 

 Accumulated non-controlling interests at end of the reporting period 137 394 133 691 

 Dividend paid to non-controlling interest (3 205) (27 040) 

 Total revenue 1 623 388 1 959 198 

 Profit for the year  46 597 39 399 

 Total assets 976 743 772 427 

 Total liabilities 448 310 258 231 

 Net cash flow from operating activities 152 597 79 832 

 Net cash flow from investing activities (142 267) (86 280) 

 Net cash flow from financing activities (1 795) 2 413 

 

27.   EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE 

Subsequent to the year end and up to the signature date of these AFS, the effects of COVID-19 continued to affect the level of 

business and it is anticipated that this will continue into the foreseeable future. It is not possible to accurately predict the full financial 

impact on the group as there are too many uncertainties at this time, including the extent and duration of the lockdown and 

Government’s fiscal policy response. Given that the group is soundly structured, with a substantial equity base, no external debt and 

a bank balance of R152m as at year-end, management has considered a range of potential trading scenarios in attempt to assess the 

potential financial impact COVID-19 will have which included taking into account the actual trading results since year-end. The short- 

to medium term severity of the impact of COVID-19 on the profitability of the group, however, remain uncertain. 
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The group entered in to an agreement to acquire the Radiant properties for R88m, which will be funded by raising R80.0m of debt 

and the balance out of internal cash flows. These properties were transferred into the Eurolux’s name prior to the date of this report 

The directors are not aware of any other material event or circumstance arising since the end of the reporting period and up until 

the date of this report, not otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial statements which significantly affects the financial 

position, results or cash flows of the group. 

28. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

28.1  Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements  of ARB Holdings Ltd (“the group”) are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board in 

issue and effective for the group at 30 June 2020, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting 

Practices Committee, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, 

the JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act of South Africa. 
 

28.2  Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for land and buildings and certain 

financial instruments which are measured at fair value. 

 
28.3  Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rands (the group’s functional currency), rounded 

to the nearest thousand, except where otherwise indicated. 

 
28.4  Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies have been applied consistently for all the years presented, except for the first-time adoption of 

IFRS 16: Leases explained in note 29.17 and IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments, the adoption of which 

had no impact. 

 
28.5  Accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that may affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only affects that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The areas involving a higher degree of 

judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are 

disclosed in note 2.1. 

 
The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows: 

 

 Revaluation of land and buildings  

The valuation of land and buildings required judgement. Details of how this judgement is exercised are set out in note 9 (property 

plant & equipment)  

 

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill. 

The valuation of intangible assets and goodwill required judgement. Details of how this judgement is exercised are set out in note 

10 (goodwill and intangibles)  
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Impairment of inventory 

In assessing the impairment of inventory, management has identified inventory that did not show any movement for 12 months 
based on sales and evaluated the extent to which this inventory will not be sold. While this evaluation was done by management 
who are experienced and knowledgeable, there is still a significant amount of estimation and judgement involved in arriving at 
the amount to be provided. Details of the number of years’ worth of future sales are on hand in inventory, by line item, at each 
period end and a progressive provision formula is used as a basis for management’s assessment of the impairment required.  
 
Impairment of gross trade receivables 

In developing the provision matrix used to estimate the expected credit loss allowance, judgement had to be used in identifying 
how best to disaggregate customers used to determine the appropriate customer credit loss and which payment history to use. 
In assessing the future adjustment to the ECL, factors that are specific to the group’s customers such as GDP and GDFD growth 
levels, liquidations inflation and business confidence levels are considered. 
 

Put option liability 

The valuation of put option liabilities required judgement. Details of how this judgement is exercised are set out in note 20 (put 

option liabilities). 

 

Right-of-use lease liability and right-of-use assets 

The group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some of the lease contracts, in which it is a lessee, that include 

renewal options. The assessment of whether the group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, 

which affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. 

 

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise 

an extension option, or to not exercise a termination option. The economic incentives considered include factors such as the 

anticipated benefits from the location of the property, levels of construction development and competition in the area, ability to 

attract foot traffic, and the availability of suitable alternative properties.  Extension options (or periods after termination options) 

are included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain not to be terminated. The assessment is reviewed if a significant 

event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and is within the control of the lessee. The 

majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable by the group on conjunction with the respective lessor, based 

on the fair market rental at that time. 

29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

29.1  Basis of consolidation 

 These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of ARB Holdings Ltd and entities controlled by it. Control 

is achieved when the group has powers over the investee, has control of the voting rights of the entity, is exposed to or has 

rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to use its voting rights to affect its returns. 

  

 Investment in subsidiaries 

 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins from the date the investor gains control of an investee and ceases when the investor 

loses control of an investee. 

 

 The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the group. The cost of the 

acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred at the 

date of exchange.  Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group 

companies are eliminated. 

 

 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position separately from 

the equity attributable to equity owners of the parent company. Non-controlling shareholders’ interest may initially be 

measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling shareholders’ interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of 

the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on each acquisition individually. 

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 

recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is 

attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 

 Goodwill 

 Goodwill on acquisitions comprises the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the fair 

value of any previously held interests and the recognised value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the 

net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. 
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 Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. In assessing 

value-in-use, the expected future cash flows from the budgets for the next year prepared by management are increased 

by the growth rate for the following four years. Capex and net working capital are calculated based on prior history. The 

resulting future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the 

carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are recognised 

in profit and loss. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 

entity sold. 

 

29.2 Property, plant and equipment 

 Property, plant and equipment, are initially recorded at cost. Thereafter this is reduced by any accumulated depreciation 

and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is computed by allocating the depreciable amount of an asset on 

a systematic basis over its useful life. Residual values and useful lives are assessed at the end of every financial year and 

the year’s depreciation determined. 

 

 Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes are stated 

in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those 

that would be determined using fair values at the reporting date. 

 

 Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of such land and buildings is credited in equity to the revaluation reserve 

except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss in 

which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in the 

carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it 

exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties’ revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On 

disposal the difference between the proceeds and the carrying value are charged to profit and loss and, if a revalued 

asset, the related revaluation reserve is transferred in equity to accumulated profits.  

 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows: 

Plant and equipment 5 to 15 years 

Office furniture and fittings 6 years 

Office equipment 5 to 6 years 

Computer equipment 3 years 

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of useful life or the term of the lease 

Buildings 50 years 

Vehicles 4 to 5 years 

Land is not depreciated. 

 

29.3 Intangible assets 

 Intangible assets acquired separately are shown at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite period trademarks that do not have a foreseeable limit to the 

period over which it is expected to generate cash flows is not amortised.   

 

 The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if there are indicators that 

the intangible assets may be impaired. Amortisation periods and methods are reviewed annually and are adjusted if 

appropriate. 

 

29.4  Impairment of non-financial assets 

 The carrying amounts of the non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss, and the impairment loss is recognized in profit and loss.  

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 

least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

 The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate which reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 

flows have not been adjusted. 
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29.5  Inventory 

 Inventory consists of power and instrumentation cable, overhead line conductor and equipment, general electrical 

contracting materials and lamps and light fittings purchased for resale and is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable 

value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost basis. Adequate provision is made for obsolete, redundant and 

slow-moving inventory. 

 

29.6  Financial instruments 

 The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 

liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Financial instruments 

are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

 Financial instruments are recognised initially at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of the financial instrument, except for financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through 

profit or loss”, which are initially measured at fair value, excluding transaction costs which are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 

transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 

derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

Loans receivable and payable 

Loans receivable and payable are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  

 

Put option liability  

Written put options on the shares of a subsidiary held by non-controlling interests entitle the non-controlling interests to 

sell their interest in the subsidiary to the group. The group initially records a financial liability for its contractual obligation 

to pay the put option at the present value of the estimated option price discounted from the date the option is first 

exercisable to the reporting date. In recognising this liability, the non-controlling interest is derecognised and any excess 

or shortfall is charged or realised directly in accumulated profits in the statement of changes in equity. After initial 

recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value through profit and loss. Dividends paid to the derecognised 

non-controlling interests are charged to profit or loss. 

 

 The unwinding of the present value discount on this financial liability is recorded in finance charges. The financial liability 

is fair valued at the end of each financial year and any changes in the fair value of the liability as a result of changes in 

assumptions used to estimate the future option price are also recognised in profit and loss. 

 

 Once the put option is exercisable, the option price variables are known and calculated in terms of the contract. Refer 

note 22. 

 

 Trade and other receivables 

 Trade receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price, being the amount of the consideration that is 

unconditional. Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost less loss allowances.  

 

 The group has adopted the simplified credit loss model which recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on 

trade receivables, excluding vat and prepayments.  This amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting 

date. The group measures this loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which 

represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 

receivable.  

 

 Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

 

 The group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on 

trade and other receivables. The groups definition of default is when judgement is obtained against the customer.  The 

provision matrix is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for future factors that are specific to the receivables 

(note 29.5), including the time value of money, where these are expected to be significantly different in the future. 

 

 An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade 

and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account.  The impairment loss is included in operating expenses in 

profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance (note 4).   
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 Write off policy 

 

 The group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty 

and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered 

into bankruptcy proceedings.  Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the group 

recovery, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.  Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 Trade and other payables 

 Trade payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  

 

 Cash and Cash equivalents  

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, money market instruments and call deposits. Cash and cash 

equivalents are measured at amortised cost. 

 

 Forward exchange contracts (“FECs”)  

 The group enters into forward contracts in order to economically hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk. Derivatives 

are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently held at fair value in 

the statement of financial position within “other receivables” or “other payables” (as applicable). Changes in the fair value 

of any derivative instruments are recognised immediately in profit and loss. 

 

 Impairment of financial assets 

 The group calculates an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL’s”) on a forward-looking basis for financial assets 

measured at amortised cost. Credit losses are measured based on ECL’s, being the present value of all cash shortfalls over 

its lifetime.  

 

29.7  Leases 

 
 The adoption of IFRS 16: Leases, with effect from 1 July 2019, has necessitated a change in accounting policy in respect 

of operating lease contracts. The group has transitioned to IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach by 

recognising the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening balances of equity at 30 

June 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for FY19 has not been restated. 

 

 Prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, the group classified those leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are retained by the lessor, as operating leases, and accounted for them in line with IAS17: Leases. The leased 

assets were not recorded as assets in the Group’s statement of financial position. The difference between actual lease 

payments and the amount expensed which included a ‘straight line’ adjustment which was recorded as a “lease liability” 

in the statement of financial position, and a deferred tax asset was raised thereon. 

 

 From 1 July 2019, the group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for each of these leases. The lease liability 

is initially measured at the present value of the contractual lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental 

borrowing rate as at the lease commencement date. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest charge 

on the lease liability and decreased by repayments made, such that the remaining liability at the end of each reporting 

period is the present value of the remaining lease payments. 

 

 The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability 

adjusted for any initial direct costs. The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 

the lease term. Where impairment indicators exist, these right-of-use assets are impaired. 

 

 On adoption of IFRS 16, the group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified as 

operating leases under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the 

remaining lease payments, discounted using the group’s incremental borrowing rate. The related right-of-use assets were 

recognised at their carrying amounts as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement of the lease but discounted 

using the group's incremental borrowing rate at the date of transition. 

 

 The group has elected to use the practical expedient not to reassess the definition of a lease on transition to IFRS 16. The 

group also applied the recognition exemption to short-term and low-value leases of property, plant and equipment as 
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well as using use a single discount rate applied to a portfolio with similar characteristics. The lease payments associated 

with these leases are recognised as an expense as paid.  

 

 The adoption of IFRS 16 resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets to the value of R89.2m and lease liabilities of 

R94.9m. This, together with the derecognition of the lease straight line adjustment of R1.6m and adjustments of R0.7m 

for deferred tax, resulted in a net R0.9m decrease in accumulated profits after allocating the NCI’s share of R2.5m. 

 

29.8 Revenue recognition 

 The group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation and when control is transferred to a customer. 
Revenue is measured based on the transaction price specified in the contract with the customer. If the consideration in 
the contract includes a variable amount, the group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in 
exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and 
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal will not occur. Contracts for the sale of goods 
provide customers with a right of return. Accordingly, revenue is shown net of value-added taxes, estimated returns, 
rebates and discounts after eliminating sales within the group. All revenue is from the sale of merchandise and is 

recognised at the point in time when the customer accepts delivery and the transfer of control of the merchandise. 
Payment is typically due within 60 to 120 days from date of invoice. The contracts do not provide for a significant benefit 
of financing the transfer of merchandise to the customer.  

 
 Sales-related warranties are not separate performance obligations as they serve as assurance that the products sold 

comply with agreed-upon specifications and cannot be purchased separately. 
 
 The group recognises revenue from the sale of merchandise to the following types of customers: wholesale; retail; cash; 

mining and industry; exports and other.   
 

29.9 Employee benefits  

 Short-term employee benefits 

 The cost of all short-term benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service. The 

accruals for employee entitlements to salaries, bonus and annual leave represent the amount which the group has a 

present obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the reporting date. These accruals have been 

calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current salary rates. 

 

 Retirement benefits 

 The group contributes to defined contribution funds. Contributions to defined contribution funds are recognised as an 

expense as incurred. 

 

29.10 Income tax 

 Current tax 

 The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year adjusted for items which are tax exempt or are not tax 

deductible. Tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 

 Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax is recognised on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and 

liabilities shown on the statement of financial position.  

 

 Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 

recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 

is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the reporting date. 

 

29.11 Contingencies  

 Contingent liabilities are a possible obligation whose existence will be confirmed by a future event or a present obligation 

which cannot be recognised because the probability of an outflow is remote or the amount cannot be measured reliably. 

 

29.12 Foreign currency transactions 

 Foreign currency transactions are converted to the respective functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the 

date of the transaction. Gains or losses on translation are recognised in profit or loss. At the end of the reporting period 
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foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Exchange differences arising on settlement of 

monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial 

recognition during the period, or in previous consolidated financial statements, are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they arise. 

 

29.13 Earnings per share and headline earnings per share 

 Earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number 

of ordinary shares in issue during the year.  Headline earnings per share is based on the same calculation as earnings per 

share except that attributable earnings specifically excludes items as set out in Circular 1/2019: “Headline Earnings” 

issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants. 

 

29.14 Operating segments 

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision-maker. The chief operating decision making body who is responsible for executing the board’s strategy and 

allocating resources and assessing operating segments has been identified as the group chief executive officer.  

 

 Segment operating assets and liabilities are only those that can be specifically identified within a particular segment. Sales 

between segments are carried out on an arm’s length basis at competitive market related prices based on the volumes 

involved. 

 

29.15 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 

early by the group 

 

 At the date of this report, the following standards and interpretations were in issue, but are not yet effective:  

 

• IFRS 3: Amendments to the definition of a Business - effective 1 January 2020. 

• IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of materiality – effective 1 January 2020.  

 

 The directors have considered the impact of these amendments and have assessed them to be immaterial.  


